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IN IN THE THE UNITED UNITED STATES STATES DISTRICT DISTRICT COURT COURT 
FOR FOR THE THE EASTERN EASTERN DISTRICT DISTRICT OF OF MICHIGAN MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN SOUTHERN DIVISION DIVISION 

UNITED UNITED STATES STATES OF OF AMERICA, AMERICA, ) ) 
) ) 

Plaintiff, Plaintiff, ) ) 
) ) 

v. v. ) ) 
) ) 

FAIRWAY FAIRWAY TRAILS TRAILS LIMITED, LIMITED, L.P., L.P., ) ) 
BENCHMARK BENCHMARK MANAGEMENT MANAGEMENT CORP., CORP., ) ) 
BENCHMARK BENCHMARK MICHIGAN MICHIGAN PROPERTIES,) PROPERTIES,) 
INC., INC., and and NICOLE NICOLE MORBACH, MORBACH, ) ) 

) ) 
Defendants. Defendants. ) ) 

------------------------)------------------------) 

Ca$e: Ca$e: 5:06-CY-12087 5:06-CY-12087 
Assigned Assigned To: To: O'Meara, O'Meara, John John Corbett Corbett 
Referral Referral Judge: Judge: Morgan, Morgan, Virginia Virginia M M 
Filed Filed 05-08-2006 05-08-2006 At At 0852 0852 AM AM 
CM!> CM!> USA USA V. V. FAIRWAYS FAIRWAYS TRAILS, TRAILS, ET ET AL AL ( ( 
TAM) TAM) 

COMPLAINT COMPLAINT 

HON. HON. 

The The United United States States America America all all 

INTRODUCTION INTRODUCTION 

1. 1. This This action action is is brought brought by by the the United United States States to to enforce enforce 

the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act, Act, Title Title VIII VIII of of the the Civil Civil Rights Rights Act Act of of 1968,1968,

as as amended amended by by the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Amendments Amendments Act Act of of 1988 1988 (Fair (Fair 

Housing Housing Act), Act), 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. §§ §§ 3601-3619. 3601-3619. 

2. 2. The The United United States States brings brings this this action action on on behalf behalf of of Harry Harry 

Tyus, Tyus, pursuant pursuant to to Section Section 812(0) 812(0) of of the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act, Act, 

42U.S.C. 42U.S.C. §3612(o). §3612(o). 

MYRISDICTION MYRISDICTION AND AND VENUE VENUE 

3. 3. This This Court Court has has jurisdict jurisdict over over this this action action under under 

28 28 U,S.C. U,S.C. §§ §§ 1331 1331 and and 1345 1345 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 3612 3612 (0). (0). 

4. 4. Venue Venue is is proper proper in in the the Southern Southern Division Division of of the the Eastern Eastern 

District District of of Michigan, Michigan, because because the the events events giving giving rise rise to to this this 

claim claim occurred occurred in in Washtenaw Washtenaw County, County, Michigan, Michigan, which which is is in in the the 

Southern Southern Division. Division. 28 28 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 1391(b) 1391(b) (2). (2). 

 

\0\0 

 

 

 
Case



Case 5:06-cv-12087-JCO-VMM    Document 1    Filed 05/08/2006    Page 2 of 10� 

THE THE DEFENDANTS DEFENDANTS 

At At all all times times relevant relevant to to the the allegations allegations contained contained 

herein, herein, Defendant Defendant F~irway F~irway Trails Trails Limited, Limited, L.P., L.P., was was the the owner owner of of 

Fairway Fairway Trails Trails Apartments; Apartments; Defendant Defendant Benchmark Benchmark Management Management 

Corporation Corporation was was the the management management company company for for Fairway Fairway Trails Trails 

Apartments; Apartments; Defendant Defendant Benchmark Benchmark Michigan Michigan Properties, Properties, Inc. Inc. WaS WaS the the 

general general partner partner of of Fairways Fairways Trails Trails Limited, Limited, L.P.; L.P.; and and Defendant Defendant 

Nicole Nicole Morbach Morbach was was employed employed by by Management Management Corpor~tion Corpor~tion 

as as the the property property manager manager at at Fairway Fairway Trails Trails Apartments Apartments 

("Defendants") ("Defendants") . . 

6. 6. Fairway Fairway Trails Trails Apartments Apartments is is a a 231-unit 231-unit apartment apartment 

complex complex located located at at 130 130 South South Hewitt Hewitt Road, Road, Ypsilanti, Ypsilanti, Michigan Michigan 

48197. 48197. The The apartments apartments at at Fairway Fairway Trails Trails Apartments Apartments are are dwellings dwellings 

within within the the meaning meaning of of Section Section 802(b) 802(b) of of the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act, Act, as as 

amended, amended, 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 3602(b). 3602(b). 

ALLEGATIONS ALLEGATIONS 

7. 7. Complainant Complainant Harry Harry Tyus Tyus (Mr. (Mr. Tyus) Tyus) is is an an individual individual with with 

a a ·handic~p· ·handic~p· as as defined defined by by the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act, Act, 42 42 U.S;C. U.S;C. 

§ § 3602 3602 (h). (h). At At all all t, t, Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus had had congest congest 

, , diabetes diabetes and and high high blood blood pressure. pressure. He He was was prescribed prescribed 

to to as as with with breathing, breathing, and and he he was was substant substant ly ly limited limited 

in in the the major major life life activity activity of of walking. walking. At At all all relevant relevant times, times, 

Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus received received monthly monthly Social Social Security Security Disability Disability Income Income 

payments payments from from the the Social Social Security Security Administration. Administration. 
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8. 8. On On or or around around February February 3, 3, 2004, 2004, Mr. Mr. Tyus's Tyus's pastor, pastor, James James 

E. E. Hendricks, Hendricks, entered entered into into a a lease lease agreement agreement with with Fairway Fairway Trails, Trails, 

Ltd. Ltd. ("Subject ("Subject Property"), Property"), with with Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus listed listed as as the the resident resident 

for for Apartment Apartment 101. 101. 

9. 9. During During the the month month of of May May 2004, 2004, Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus made made an an oral oral 

request request to to pay pay his his rent rent after after he he received received his his Social Social Security Security 

Disability Disability check check on on the the third third Wednesday Wednesday of of each each month. month. Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus 

made made this this request, request, which which he he called called a a request request for for a a re<'sonable re<'sonable 

accommodation, accommodation, to to Defend<'nt Defend<'nt Morbach. Morbach. Within Within one one week, week, Defendant Defendant 

Marbach Marbach informed informed Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus that that his his was was denied. denied. 

10. 10. During During the the month month of of June June 2004, 2004, Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus contacted contacted the the 

Fair Fair Housing Housing Center Center of of tern tern Michigan Michigan ("FHC") ("FHC") to to 

their their assistance. assistance. On On June June 30, 30, 2004, 2004, the the Executive Executive Director Director of of 

FHC FHC sent sent a a to to Defendant Defendant Marbach Marbach informing informing her her that that Mr. Mr. 

Tyus Tyus was was a a person person with with a a disability disability and and that that the the FHe FHe was was 

requesting requesting that that Defendants Defendants grant grant him him a a "reasonable "reasonable accommodation" accommodation" 

so so that that he he could could pay pay his his rent rent on on the the 2020 th th of of each each month month without without 

being being assessed assessed a a late late fee. fee. 

11. 11. Defendants Defendants issued issued a a Demand Demand for for Possession Possession dated dated July July 4, 4, 

2004, 2004, signed signed by by Defendant Defendant Morbach Morbach on on July July 6, 6, 2004, 2004, and and notarized notarized 

on on July July 21, 21, 2004. 2004. 

12. 12. In In a a letter letter dated dated July July 8, 8, 2004, 2004, Defendants' Defendants' attorney attorney 

denied denied the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Center's Center's request request that that Defendants Defendants allow allow 

Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus to to pay pay his his rent rent on on the the 2020 th th of of each each month month without without being being 

assessed assessed a a late late 
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13. 13. Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus obtained obtained representation representation from from Legal Legal Services Services of of 

Southeastern Southeastern Michigan Michigan in in the the eviction eviction matter, matter, and and on on or or about about 

September September 1, 1, 2004, 2004, an an attorney attorney for for Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus filed filed an an Answer, Answer, 

Affirmative Affirmative Defenses Defenses and and a a Counterclaim Counterclaim alleging, alleging, inter inter alia, alia, 

that that Defendants Defendants violated violated the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act Aot when when they they denied denied 

the the request request for fOr a a reasonable reasonable accommodation. accommodation. 

14. 14. On On October October 6, 6, 2004, 2004, a a bench bench trial trial was was held, held, and and 

washtenaw washtenaw County County Circuit Circuit Court Court Judge Judge John John B. B. Collins Collins ruled ruled in in 

favor favor of of Mr. Mr. Tyus. Tyus. Judge Judge Collins Collins found found that that Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus is is a a person person 

with with a a di tii lity, lity, and and he he Defendants Defendants to to grant grant the the 

for for a a reasonable reasonable accommodation accommodation so so that that Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus could could pay pay his his 

rent rent days days after after receiving receiving his his Social Social Security Security Disability Disability 

check check each each month. month. Judge Judge Collins Collins also also ordered ordered Defendants Defendants to to waive waive 

the the late late fees fees they they had had charged charged Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus in in August August and and September September 

2004. 2004. 

15. 15. In In a a letter letter dated dated october october 8, 8, 2004, 2004, Defendants' Defendants' 

attorney, attorney, who who had had represented represented Defendants Defendants at at the the court court hearing hearing two two 

days days earlier, earlier, informed informed Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus that that Defendants Defendants would would not not renew renew 

his his lease lease when when it it expired expired on on January January 31, 31, 2005. 2005. 

16. 16. On On Or Or about about November November 23, 23, 2004, 2004, Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus received received a a new new 

lease lease for for his his Fairway FairWaY Trails Trails apartment, apartment, which which he he signed signed and and 

returned returned to to Defendants, Defendants, thereby thereby entering entering a a lease lease that that would would run run 

from from Februat·y Februat·y 1, 1, 2005, 2005, through through January January 31, 31, 2006. 2006. 

17. 17. On On or or about about December December 29, 29, 2004, 2004, Defendants Defendants served served on on Mr. Mr. 

Tyus Tyus a a Not Not to to Quit, Quit, which which that that must must move move out out of of his his 
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terminated terminated as as of of that that date. date. 

18. 18. In In a a letter letter dated dated January January 10, 10, 2005, 2005, Defendants' Defendants' 

attorney attorney informed informed Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus that that he he had had been been provided provided the the new new 

lease lease in in error, error, and and that that the the Notice Notice to to Quit Quit dated dated December December 29, 29, 

2004 2004 was was still still in in effect. effect. 

19. 19. On On or or about about January January 31, 31, 2005, 2005, Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus vacated vacated his his 

apartment apartment at at Fairway Fairway Trails Trails Apartments Apartments pursuant pursuant to to the the Notice Notice to to 

Quit Quit and and the the letter letter dated dated January January 10, 10, 2005. 2005. 

THE THE ADMINISTRATIVE ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT COMPLAINT 

20. 20. On On or or about about April April 18, 18, 2005, 2005, Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus filed filed a a verified verified 

complaint complaint of of discrimination discrimination with with the the Department Department of of Housing Housing and and 

Urban Urban Development Development ("HUD") ("HUD") alleging alleging that that Defendant Defendant Nicole Nicole Marbach Marbach 

violated violated the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act Act by by retaliating retaliating in in violation violation of of 

42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 3617. 3617. On On January January 31, 31, 2006, 2006, the the HUn HUn complaint complaint was was 

amended amended to to add add Benchmark Benchmark Management Management Corporation, Corporation, Fairway Fairway Trails Trails 

Limited, Limited, L.P., L.P., and and Benchmark Benchmark Michigan Michigan Properties, Properties, Inc. Inc. as as 

respondents respondents and and to to include include an an allegation allegation under under 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. 

§ § 3604 3604 (f) (f) (1) (1) . . 

21. 21. Pursuant Pursuant to to the the requirements requirements of of 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. §§ §§ 3610(a) 3610(a) 

nd nd (b), (b), the the Secretary Secretary of of HUD HUD ("secretal'Y") ("secretal'Y") conducted conducted and and 

ompleted ompleted an an investigation investigation of of the the complaint complaint and and engaged engaged in in 

onciliation onciliation forts, forts, which which were were unsucce unsucce 
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apartment apartment by by January January 31, 31, 2005 2005 because because his his tenancy tenancy was was being being 
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22. 22. Thereafter, Thereafter, the the Secretary Secretary prepared prepared a a final final 

investigative investigative report report based based upon upon the the information information gathered gathered during during 

the the investigation, investigation, and and the the Secretary, Secretary, pursuant pursuant to to 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. 

§ § 3610(g) 3610(g) (1), (1), determined determined that that there there was was reasonable reasonable cause cause to to 

believe believe that that discriminatory discriminatory housing housing practices practices had had occurred. occurred. HUD HUD 

issued issued its its Determination Determination of of Reasonable Reasonable Cause Cause on on or or about about March March 

21, 21, 2006. 2006. 

23. 23. HUP HUP issued issued its its Charge Charge of of DisCl"imination DisCl"imination against against the the 

Defendants Defendants on on or or about about March March 21, 21, 2006, 2006, pursuant pursuant to to 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. 

S S 3610(g) 3610(g) (2) (2) (A), (A), charging charging Defendants Defendants with with 

discriminatory discriminatory housing housing practices, practices, in in violation violation of of the the Fair Fair 

Housing Housing Act, Act, as as amended, amended, 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. §§ §§ 3601, 3601, et et 

24. 24. On On or or about about April April 7, 7, 2006, 2006, Mr. Mr. Tyus Tyus made made a a timely timely 

election election to to have have the the claims claims resolved resolved in in federal federal court, court, pursuant pursuant 

to to 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 3612(a). 3612(a). 

25. 25. Subsequently, Subsequently, on on or or about about April April 10, 10, 2006, 2006, the the 

Secretary, Secretary, through through the the Regional Regional Counsel Counsel of of HUD HUD for for Region Region V, V, 

authorized authorized the the Attorney Attorney General General to to file file this this action action on on behalf behalf of of 

the the Complainant, Complainant, pursuant pursuant to to 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 3612(0) 3612(0) (1) (1) 

VIOLATIONS VIOLATIONS OF OF LAW LAW 

26. 26. Defendants' Defendants' conduct, conduct, described described in in paragraphs paragraphs 7 7 through through 

19 19 above, above, constitutes constitutes coercing, coercing, intimidating, intimidating, threatening, threatening, or or 

interfering interfering with with any any person person in in se se or or enjoyment enjoyment of, of, or or 

on on account account of of his his having having exercised exercised or or enjoyed, enjoyed, or or on on account account of of 

his his having having or or encouraged encouraged any any other other person person in in the the exercise exercise 
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or or enjoyment enjoyment of, of, any any right right granted granted or or protected protected by by §§ §§ 3603-3606, 3603-3606, 

in in violation violation of of 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 3617. 3617. 

27. 27. As As a a result result of of Defendants' Defendants' conduct, conduct, Complainant Complainant Harry Harry 

Tyus Tyus has has suffered suffered damages damages and and is is an an aggri aggri within within the the 

meaning meaning of of 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. § § 3602 3602 (i). (i). 

28. 28. The The discriminatory discriminatory actions actions of of fendants fendants were were 

intentional, intentional, willful, willful, or or taken taken in in disregard disregard for for the the rights rights of of the the 

Complainant. Complainant. 

PRAYER PRAYER FOR FOR RELIEF RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, WHEREFORE, the the United United States States prays prays that that this this Court Court enter enter an an 

ORDER ORDER that: that: 

1. 1. Declares Declares that that the the discriminatory discriminatory housing housing practices practices of of 

Defendants Defendants as as set set forth forth above above violate violate the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act, Act, as as 

amended, amended, 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. §§ §§ 3601, 3601, at at seq.; seq.; 

2. 2. Enjoins Enjoins Defendants, Defendants, r r s, s, employees, employees, and and 

successors, successors, and and all all other other persons persons in in active active concert concert or or 

ion ion with with them them from: from: 

a) a) coercing, coercing, intimidating, intimidating, threatening threatening or or interfering interfering 

with with any any person person in in the the exercise exercise or or enjoyment enjoyment of of rights rights 

protected protected by by the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act; Act; and and 

b) b) failing failing to to put put Harry Harry Tyus Tyus in in the the position position he he would would 

have have been been in in if if Defendants Defendants had had not not interfered interfered with with his his 

rights rights under under the the Fair Fair Housing Housing Act. Act. 
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Awards Awards monetary monetary damages damages to to Complainant Complainant Harry Harry Tyus Tyus 

pursuant pursuant to to 42 42 U.S.C. U.S.C. §§ §§ 3612 3612 (0) (0) (3) (3) and and 3613 3613 (c) (c) (1). (1). 

The The United United States States further further prays prays for for such such additional additional relief relief 

as as the the interests interests of of justice justice may may reo reo 

Respectfully Respectfully submit submit 
STEPHEN STEPHEN J. J. MURPHY MURPHY 
United United States States Attorney Attorney 

By: By: 
E. E. LEVY LEVY 

As As is is ant ant United United States States 0 0 ey ey 
United United States States Attorney's Attorney's Of Of ice ice 
211 211 West West Fort Fort Street, Street, Ste. Ste. 2001 2001 
Detroit, Detroit, Michigan Michigan 48226 48226 
313 313 226 226 9727 9727 
judith.levy@usdoj.gov judith.levy@usdoj.gov 
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